
























































THE CHAPEL AT MOUNT VERNON HOSPITAL

“#*The Chapel at Mount Vernon is a building of coasiderable importance, in
that it is a complete Art Nouveau church., There is only one other of its kind
in England: the Parish Church at Great Warley in Essexe

The Art Nouveau was a style of decoration which, although it had pre—
cursors, appeared fully developed simultaneously in 1893 in London {Aubrey
Beardsley), Brussels (Victor Horta), Nancy (BEmile Galle) and New York (Tiffany).
It was characterised by freely—curving lines, which thickened in proportion to
the degree of curvature, and from that developed into a whole system of design,
involving construction as well as decoration, The revolution had been prepared
for by: a tendency among late Gothic Revivalists to go back to where Gothic
broke off in the 16th century, and to develop from that point, rather than to
hark back to still earlier originals and simply imitatej by the decorative iromr—
work of Gilbert Scott (the stairs at the Randolf Hotel in Oxford) and Street
(the railings outside the church in Thorndyke Street, Pimlico); by the drawings
of D.G. Rossetti, inspired by William Blake; by the Japanese drawings so popular
in the 1870's and '80's; and by Whistler; by William Morris! curvilinear wall-
paper designs and Burns—Jones! paintings of briar tendrils. It was sparked off
by a book written in 1887 which has only recently come to light (there are only
two copies in the world) called 'An Essay on Broom—Corn'. Broom-corn is a kind
of sorghym, whose stalks at first intertwine in an extraordinary way, before
forming a kind of besum or broomes The book was by Edward Colenna, formerly
miscalled 'Eugene!, who worked for Tiffany in New York and then for Bing in
Paris, who invented the name 'Art Nouveau! and popularised it. It must have
been this book from which Antoni Guadi, the famous Barcelona architect, the
greatest of the 'gothic—developers', derived the infillings of the doors at the
Guell Palace with ironwork taken straight from broom—corn, in 1885—9.

The best Art Nouveau architects in England were Harrison Townsend, who
built the Horniman Museum at Forest Hill as well as the church at Great Warley
and other works, and Brewer, who built the Ward Settlement in Bloomsbury: the
greatest in Britain was Charles Rennie Mackintosh of Glasgow. The chief
development of Art Nouveau in England was associated with the Arts and Crafts
Movement, founded by A. MacMurdo, on the basis of William Morris' return to
the moment when the Perpendicular medieval style gave way to the Renaissance.
Macmurdo made an fArt Nouveau chair in 1883, but built in a style of his owns A
characteristic English development of the return to Gothic was a style which
might be called 'Wesleyan Perpendicular'y in which curved lines largely replace
straight ones: there is a good example in a church opposite Bmmanuel College in
Cambridge, another in Friern Barnet, and Sedding's Holy Trinity in Sloane Street.

FsW. Wheeler,y, who designed the Mount Vernon chapely was in the main stream
of Art Nouveau designers. He was born in 1854 'and died in 1931, and was busiest
in the first quarter of this century. He was in partnership with at least three
men at different times, and built a great deal: mostly banks, country houses and
hospitals: he was working on his own when be built Mount Vernon, in 1905, Little
has been recorded about him personally, though there is a complete list of his
works in the files at the Royal Institute of British Architectsy to whom I am
indebted for help. Besides the chapely he certainly, at a later datey built the
Secretary's house at Mount Vernon, and pessibly the whole hospital.

The chapel is built like a parish church, and it is bigger than the one at
Great Warley, though not so lavish, that was designed regardless of expense by
Harrison Town&end, a gift to the Parish from a rich man, the father of
Peter Warlock, the composer., Mount Vernon is built effectively on the hillside,
so that the Sanctuary is a taller building at the east end, contrasting with the
short tower with a low roof at the west end. Incidentally, the pole in the
middle of the tower roof is a typical Art Nouveau feature. The roof of the nave
is steepy, and carried down along buttresses which are strongly inclined, or
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battered, and are of free—stone, with floral ornaments at the top, the two at the
east end being set obliquely, with a curved bow roof—edge between them, = very
pretty. The buttresses are exactly like those used by C.A. Voysey, and are the
essence of the construction, because they carry the whole thrust of the roofy a
development of the late™Gothic invention of the roof carried by buttresses smg
with no walls between them except glass, as at King's College Chapel, in
Cambridge. ' - :

The plain simplicity of the outside, with little decoration but the tops
of the buttresses and the two low relief sculptures over the entrance, contrasts
with the decorative interior, It is a large rectangular hall, with an open roof,
showing how the trrust is carried by wooden arches, held together by tie~beams,
on which are king—posts and elegant curved strutse. There is a porch.on the
northy and a chapel opening into the choir. The south wall is all windows
between the buttresses: rectangular windows, with bow tops and stone mullions
separating rectangular lights with smaller rectangular plain glass pancse
The walls below the windows are rendered with bright green tiles, like the
Debenham House in Kensington, where the outside is covered with green de Morgan
tiles, which Halsey Ricardo thought would be both cheerful and easily cleaned.

The chancel is raised three steps, on a low stone wall, and is demarcated
by a screen of tapering square posts surmounted by water—lilies, carrying
symbolic 'arches! made of light curved bows, like the halves of a printed
bracket, which carry a continuous horizontal beam, on the front of which,
between each pair of bows, acting as 'key—stones' to an arch, are carved water—
lilies, each of which has a bright enamel centre — an Art Nouveau characteristic.
The walls of the chancel are lined with verticaly rectangular wooden panels,
simply decorated with vertical wooden strips, as is the wall over the door to
the vestry on the south (in which is a dated plaque), the door being ,
unobstrusively decorated with little angels' heads at the sides. These plain
panels are, oddly enough, common in Art Nouveau architecture: a contrast to the
generally liberal ornamentation. They feature largely in Hector Guimard's
designs for the Paris Metro: he was one of the most lush of the Art Nouveau
designers. They were admired by Van der Velde, who worked in Belgiumy, and was
invited to start what became the famous 'Bauhaus! at Weia.r, where
Walter Gropius promulgated modern architecture, of which they became an
essential feature. That was where they came from. The posts supporting the
organ at the west end are also like the work of Voysey, but they have floral
designs at the tops, instcad of Voysey's flat square tcapitals'te

The Chapel is worth consideration, because it is a rare production, good
of its kind, and interesting in its relations with what went before and came
after it in the history of architecture. - CHARLES NEWMAN

************************************

EXCAVATION AT THE  COW  BYRE, MANOR  FARM, IRUISLIP 1978

INTRODUCT ION

The Cow Byre, a single storey structure approximately 30 metres x 6 metresy
was destroyed by fire in 1976, It was sited alongside the Manor Farm road
running north ~ south and had a thatched roof. The remaining walls on the north
and east clevations are of 0,30 metres brick and flint work and the southern
end is a recent brick addition. The western elevation was of tongued and
grooved panels supported on oak studs. Although traditionally called the
Cow Byre, during World War II it was used for housing pigs and stalls and a

_brick fire—place were built. '

The fact that this barn doees not appear on Doharty'!s map of 1750 but is
shown on the 1866 six inch Ordnance Survey map points to the building being of
late 18th or early 19th century construction. The situation of the bzrn in
the centre of the Manor Farm complex with its long history of occupation makes
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it.likely other buildings had formerly occupied the site. Indeed, in the 132k
Estent there is mention of "the barn which is next to the gateway through which
one enters the main house'". The Cow Byre is near the gateway entrance to the
moated site so that one interpretation would make it the site of buildings
listed in the 14th century Extent.

Whilst the Cow Byre was in its present ruinous burnt—out condition, an
opportunity was taken during September and October 1978 to carry out an
exploratory excavation on the west side of the structure.

EXCAVATION

A 1 x 3.6m trench was taken out along the west side of the Byre 5.6m from
the NoW. corner., The top layer of dark humus contained rodules of flinty some
pieces of chalk and pieces of modern glass, bits of bone and rusty iron. This
all appeared to be modern dumping. At the southern end of the trenchy a layer
of large white cortexed flint nodules were foundy Extension of the excavated
arca showed that these extended outwards l.6m from the Byre wall and had the
appearance of foundations. However, when subsequently removed these flints
were only a single layer and might have been dumped there to form a ramped
entrance to the buildinge.

Immediately bencath these flints at a depth of 0.26m was a farmyard floor
of rough flints and pebbles the edges of which had been broken off as though by
horgschoes or farm implements passing over themy and this floor continued west—
ward to 3.6m from the Byre and at this point was 0.4ln deep. The overlay was a
black humus and Mr, King of Manor Farm recalled sewerage sludge being dumped
about 30 years ago to level the rough farmyard area and provide a level soil
surface for grassing. The yard appeared to have been in use before World War II
and had been repaired with red and yellow brick fragments, but there was no
evidence to indicate when it was first laid.

At 0.10m beneath this yemd floor of rough angular flints was another floor
of rounder water—-worn pebbles and it contained no brick fragmentse. The infill
between the two floors was of sandy clay with some dark brown patches which could
have been decayed wood, but again was devoid of any dating evidence. This lower
yard was placed directly on virgin clay.

Excavations were extended under the foundations of the Byre and it was
noted that the roof timbers had been supported on this side of the building by
wooden uprightsmorticed into square stone spreaders which in turn were set on
to brickse A wooden beam stretched between the uprights at ground level and
underneath this beam and close to an upright was a large piece of worked lime—
stone. This appecared to be part of a door jamb and although the origin of the
stone has not been traced the moulding on its edge appears to match into the
St. Martin's Church structure. The floor inside the Byre was of fairly recent
paving slab construction and under these was an infil of sandy soil. There was
no indication of the farmyard floor continuing under the Byre.

In the area immediately adjacent to the Byre and also at several other
points within the Manor Farm complex there are substantial accumulations of
large flints which could possibly have been used as walls or foundations for
the buildings described in the 1324 Extent and which were apparently standing
until 1617 when "the old ruinated fryer's hall" was pulled dowhs Excavations
will continue within the Manor Farm area in an endeavour to determine whether
any flints still remain in situ as foundations of these original structures.

COLIN BOWLT and ROBERT BEDFORD
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LAWRENCE JAMES  BAKER
and  the HAYDON HALL  ESTATE, EASTCOTE

e e mg

Lawrence James Baker was the middle of three generations of Bakers who lived
in Eastcote in Victorian times. His father John Lew Baker formerly of the
Madras Army married a Caroline Brown and lived in Eastcote Lodge (now demolished).
He died in 1886 and is buried opposite the east end of Holy Trinity Church,
Northwood. His eldest son, Lawrence James, was born in 1827,

Latwrence James Baker arrived in Eastcote as owner of Haydon Hall in 1864
following a previous occupier, Dr. Diamonde He married as his first wife
Ellen Katherine Thompson of Ruislip Park who died on 30th June 1869 and who is
commemorated in the ecast window of Ruislip Parish Church. He married secondly
Susan Taylor in 1871 and five of his sons and three daughters were subsequently
baptised in Ruislip. His daughter became the wife of the Vicar of Ruislip, the
Reve Thomas M, Everett. Lawrence James was a long standing member of the London
Stock Exchange and a Manager and in 1885 became Liberal Member of Parliament for
Somerset (Frome). He left Eastcote in 1885 for Ottershaw Park, Chertsey, and
became High Sheriff of Surrey afterwards moving to Brambridge Park, Bastleigh
where he died in 1921 aged 9%. His heir was his eldest son, Lawrence Ingham.

Lawrence Ingham Baker was born in 1862 and occupied Eastcote Lodge which
had been rebuilt in 1888 to the designs of the architects, Ernest George and
Peto, He had married in 1885 Helen Agnes the youngest daughter of
Sir Samuel Morton Peto of Eastcote House and from contemporary accounts seems
to have played a large part in local affairs. He left Eastcote Lodge in 1891
and died at Crewkerne in Somerset in 1934, A print of the rebuilt Eastcote
Lodge is in the Ruislip Library. The present Flag Walk development is on the
site of the demolished buildinge

SALE OF THE HAYDON HALL ESTATE

Preparatory to his leavimg Haydon Hall for Ottershaw, Lawrence James Baker
put the Estate up for auction at the Sale Rooms at Tokenhouse Yard in the City
on Tuesday, 25th September 1883, A copy of the Sale Particulars is in the
Local Collection in Ruislip Library and is of great interest. The estate
consisted of the Mansion, a great many other properties and land amounting to
387 acres including 135 acres of Mad Bess and North Riding Woods together with
the former Ducks Hill Farm (now Youngwood Farm), Keepers Cottage and cottages
on Ducks Hill Road.

Two maps are included giving information about Victorian owners and
boundaries. One of the maps shows by a dotted line a route marked "Authorised
Railway from Beaconsfield to Harrow'! which crosses Field End Road at Eagtcote,
crosses Eastcote Road and Manor Farm, Ruislip, with a proposed station in ‘
Bury Street roughly on the site of the Vicarage. A lucky escape for the
districtd ‘

Outlying properties included in the estate were the Keepers cottage and a
Cowman cottage still existing in Fore Street next to Coteford Close and the two
attractive cottages further along and numbered 124 and 126 Fore Street and let
at that time to a George Smith at 5/~ per week and to William Martin at 3/6 a
week.

The followihg is a description of three of the main service buildings
attached to Hayden Hall:~—

HAYDON HALL LODGE

The 1883 Sale Particulars contain a lithograph of this black and white
building near The Case is Altered, showing it much as it is now except that the
entrance gate to the Hall was in use and there was a rather attractive wooden
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balustrade on top of the curving dwarf wall in front of the buildinge In a
letter to the Middlesex Quarterly in the Spring of 1953, Mr. P,H. Lovell _
describes in detail the seven curious wooden carvings which can be seen round
the porche They represent figures in British and foreign costume starting with
John Barleycorn of England, an Irishman with a clay pipe tucked in the band of
his hat, a Scot playing the bagpipes and a Welsh woman singing lustily. The
nationality of the remainder is uncertain but there is an organ—grinder complete
with monkey! a fur capped figure in heavy cloak and finally a somewhat sinister
figure clutching a flint lock.

In addition, lions or perhaps dragons are carved on the ends of the beams}
there are carvings on the brick cills beneath the windows and a delicate wood
dentil course is on the gable ends The most unusual detail of the building
however, is the incised plaster between the black timbers and the ornate panels
which decorate the upper floors with intriguing designs and strange figures.

The Sale Particulars refer to the building as "e.eeses a very ornamental
and costly Entrance Lodge in Old English Style" and again "The Lodge has
recently been erected at a cost of about £1,100."

Hayden Lodge was designed by the architect Ernest George and Peto and
drawings of the building were exhibited at the Royal Academy in 1880, the
probable date of erection. It is an interesting building and an asset to the
locality and it is fortunate that it falls within the Eastcote Village
Conservation Arca.

NEW COTLTAGES

There is a similarity between this attractive black and white and brick
and tilehung building consisting of three cottages in High Roady Eastcote
opposite the bottom of Fore Street, and Haydon Hall Lodge. The date of the
cottages is shown on a rainwater head as 1879 with the initials L.JeBs for
Lawrence James Baker and they are another of the local buildings connected with
Haydon Hall to be designed by the architects George and Petoe. Like Hayden Lodge
the cottages have the same unusual incised plaster and have as well the over—
sailing gables on the first floor and tile hanging which characterise the third
of the Hayden Hall buildings, namely "Findon" in Southill Lane. The especially
elaborate pargetting on the east end of New Cottages over the porch is echoed
in the brick decoration of the notable houses designed by the architects in
Harrington and Collingham Gardens, South Kensington.

FINDON, SOUTHILL LANE

This is the good looking house with three prominent gables in Southill Lane
opposite the cricket ground in Haydon Halle The 1883 Sale Particulars describe’
the building as "three new ornamental cottage dwellings in the 0l1d English Style
very expensively built of Red Brick and Weather Tile with Gables from the design
of Messrse. Ernest George & Peto., Let to Ae. Kingsmill, Frank Irvings &

Robert Moor". The three cottages are now one attractive house but there is
still to be seen the outlines of the filled in stairwell in the middle section
and there seems to be a step at the south—west end up to-a filled in wall or
porch, Extensive use is made &f tilehanging of the same pattern as used at
New Cottages. The building has two rather mysterious lifelike figure heads
carved on the struts under the upper floor overhand. The date of the building
is presumably close to 1880 but there are outbuildings clearly older. The
initial cost of these cottages was obviously expensive; they are architect
designed and have a spacious setting on an admirable site with plenty of garden
space especially at the front and it seems a little odd that they should have
been cottage dwellings let at 4/— per week each.
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-HAYDEN BALL

Photographs of Haydon Hall before it was demolished show a rather awkward
looking extension at the west end and it seems likely this was added during the
ownership of L.Je. Baker but whether George & Peto had a hand in the design is
not clear. The adjoining conservatorys of which a corner is. shown in Kemps
History of Eastcote, was probably added at the same time and secems to have been
a much more gracious buildinge

There is a photograph in Manor Farm Library of the entrance hall to the
house and the heavily ornate panelling shown smacks very much of Victorian over.
elaboration by no means comparable with the fine austerity of the 17th century
panelling that used to exist in Eastcote House.

GEQRGE AND PETO, ARCHITECTS

Sir Ernest George R.A. was the senior partner of the archltectural firm of
George & Peto. "He was born in London in 1839 and won the Royal Institution of
British Architects Gold Medal in 1859. He started practice in 1861 and had
successive partners in T. Vaughan, Harold Peto and A.B. Yeates. Ernest George
was important in his profession and was one of the chief exponents and
pioneers of domestic architecture in the country. He was responsible with
Harold Peto for the Dutch gabled town houses in South Kensington which led
Pc¥sner in his reference to the design of Eastcote Lodge (1888, now demolished)
to call it a "typical example of George & Peto Dutch revival, His work
however, was mostly country houses and includes Eynsham Hall, Shiplake Hall,
The Royal College of Music, etc. Locally, in addition to Eastcote Lodge,
Haydon Hall Lodge, New Cottages and Findon, he designed The Cocoa Tree (now
Haywood House) at the top of Pinner High Street and Barrow Point in Pinner.

He was President of the ReI.B.hs in 1908 and 1910 and was a water colourist
of distinction. He died in December 1922.

Harold Ainsworth Peto was the fifth son of Sir Samuel Morton Peto who lived at
Eastcote House in the late 19th century. He was born at 1lth July 1854 and his
professional education was severely practical including two years in a joiners
shop before, in 1876, he joined Ernest George in a most successful architectural
partnership. During the following period most of the important work of the firm
was carried out. He was particularly interested in decorating and furnishinges
The partnership dissolved when Peto suffered from lung trouble and was advised
to go abroade. The portrait of him in the R.I.B.A., Library was taken in Venice,
However, he reached the age of 79 before he died at Iford Manor, Bradford—om—
Avon on 16th April 1933, He was then described as an architect and garden
designer and was responsible for the layout of Alington Gardens in Dorset as
well as his own at Bradford-omAvon,

LAWRENCE JAMES BAKER

It is perhaps a little strange that Lewrence James Baker is little known in
the districte. A wealthy and influential Victorian business man he dlsplayed his
wealthy as was the fashion, in the aggrandiscment of his estate by the building
of lodges and cottages, perhaps over ornate by present standards, but which aro
now beglnnlng to be prized as interesting examples of small scale archltecturaﬁu.
of the period. Lawrence James Beker has left a legacy of buildings, some of
which in the course of time, may well become notsmable.

NOTES:

il. Miss Margaret Hoare, Librarian at Manor Farm, has kindly arranged for
a copy of the 1883 Sale Particulars and plans to be added to the Local
History Collection.

2. Miss Mary Pearce, Librarian at Uxbridge has received an enquiry from
Ernest Es Schmidt of Kohn, West Germany about the figure of the bagpiper
on the porch of Haydon Lodge.
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B The lithograph of New Cottages, published in the Building News of
July 2nd 1880 shows a woman scooping a pail of water from Guts Pond at the
bottom of Fore Street. Apparently a convenient water supply for the
neighbourhood! The pond is now an ornamental garden.
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SIR CHRISTOPHER  COWAN

We heard with great regret of the death of our President, Sir Christopher
Cowan, on Friday, 16th March 1979, in his 90th year. Sir Christopher had been
associated with the Society since its formation in 1964, and had always been a
source of strength and inspiration. When Cliff Morrell and I were considering
the formation of a Local History Society in the early months of 1964, I wrote
to a variety of local people and organisations to sound out opinion, and in
addition wrote an open letter to the Advertiser and Cazette concerning the
project. The only reply received from the paper was from Sir Christopher who
offered both his encouragement and supporte.

A small ad hoc committee was formed to get the Society under way and
Sir Christopher acted as our first Chairman. In spite of his many other
commitments, he rarely if every, missed either a committee or Society meeting.
He was a most efficient Chairman not only by his management of committee
meetings but also by interjecting sound ideas as to the policy of the Societyy,
its programme and other undertakings. He kept the most detailed notes,
sufficient for any secretary to base recorded minutes on. His long and varied
experience in public service was invaluable in guiding the Society'!s course of
action in a veriety of circumstances. Within a short period of the Society's
formation, he was encouraging the London and Middlesex Archaelogical Society's
support in the struggle to preserve Eastcote House. At a later date he took
up battle to preserve Haydon Hall. Unfortunately, neither of the buildings
survived but the decision to demolish them was far from being frubber—stamped!
through the authorities concerned. :

Sir Christopher was a barrister by profession as well as being Chairman
of a family business. He became an elected member of the Ruislip—Northwood
Urban District Council in 1936 and served until 1949, He was elected Middlesex
County Councillor in 1937, becoming an alderman in 1951 and eventually its
Chairman in 1956, For public service he was RXnighted in 1958, He became
High Sheriff of Middlesex for 1960. In 1949 he was created a Justice of the
Peace and served on the Uxbridge Bench until 1964, being Chairman from 1947,
Sir Christopher was deeply interested in the Northwood and Pinner Hospital
being a member of its Board from 1936 to 1949 and Chairman in the later yearse
Following the creation of the National Health Service a Voluntary Association
of the Hospital was formed in 1948 of which Sir Christopher was member and
Chairman. A History of the Hospital was published by the Association on the
50th Anniversary of the founding of the hospital and this History was compiled
by Sir Christopher.

In the early 1¢70!'s Sir Christopher reluctantly decided that he was unable
to continue as Chairman of our Society and was unanimously elected as its first
President. He only undertook this office on the understanding that he would be
able to continue attending committee meetings and even when he was unable to

achieve this in later years was most appreciative of the committee minutes
which were regularly sent to him, His service to our Society will always be

remembered with respect and affection. - R.G. EDWARDS.






